### Automated closed-loop insulin delivery for the management of type 1 diabetes during pregnancy: the AiDAPT RCT

Tara TM Lee,<sup>1,2†</sup> Corinne Collett,<sup>3†</sup> Simon Bergford,<sup>4†</sup> Sara Hartnell,<sup>5</sup> Eleanor M Scott,<sup>6</sup> Robert S Lindsay,<sup>7</sup> Katharine F Hunt,<sup>8</sup> David R McCance,<sup>9</sup> Katharine Barnard-Kelly,<sup>10</sup> David Rankin,<sup>11</sup> Julia Lawton,<sup>12</sup> Rebecca M Reynolds,<sup>13</sup> Emma Flanagan,<sup>3</sup> Matthew Hammond,<sup>3</sup> Lee Shepstone,<sup>3</sup> Malgorzata E Wilinska,<sup>14</sup> Judy Sibayan,<sup>4</sup> Craig Kollman,<sup>4</sup> Roy Beck,<sup>4</sup> Roman Hovorka<sup>14</sup> and Helen R Murphy<sup>1,2\*</sup> on behalf of the AiDAPT Collaborative Group

<sup>1</sup>Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK

- <sup>2</sup>Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Norwich, UK <sup>3</sup>Norwich Clinical Trials Unit, Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK
- <sup>4</sup>Jaeb Center for Health Research, Tampa, Florida, USA
- <sup>5</sup>Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridge, UK
- <sup>6</sup>Leeds Institute of Cardiovascular and Metabolic Medicine, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK
- <sup>7</sup>Institute of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK <sup>8</sup>King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
- <sup>9</sup>Regional Centre for Endocrinology and Diabetes, Royal Victoria Hospital, Belfast, UK <sup>10</sup>Barnard Health Research Ltd, Southampton, UK
- <sup>11</sup>The Usher Institute, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK
- <sup>12</sup>The Usher Institute, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK
- <sup>13</sup>Centre for Cardiovascular Science, Queen's Medical Research Institute, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK
- <sup>14</sup>Wellcome-MRC Institute of Metabolic Science, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK
- \*Corresponding author helen.murphy@uea.ac.uk
- <sup>†</sup>Joint first authors, contributed equally

Published April 2024 DOI: 10.3310/WCHZ4201

## Plain language summary

Automated closed-loop insulin delivery for the management of type 1 diabetes during pregnancy: the AiDAPT RCT

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation 2024; Vol. 11: No. 7 DOI: 10.3310/WCHZ4201

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

# **Plain language summary**

Pregnancy in women with type 1 diabetes is associated with complications for both mother and baby. Recent improvements in diabetes technology have not been sufficient to help most women achieve and maintain recommended pregnancy glucose targets. Hybrid closed-loop technology (an insulin pump, smartphone app and continuous glucose monitor), which automatically adjusts insulin doses according to glucose measurements, is effective in managing type 1 diabetes outside of pregnancy, but its effectiveness during pregnancy was unclear.

To examine the effectiveness of hybrid closed-loop therapy compared to standard insulin therapy in pregnant women with type 1 diabetes, we conducted a randomised controlled trial in nine maternity clinics in England, Scotland and Northern Ireland. We enrolled pregnant women with type 1 diabetes and above-target glucose levels, defined as glycated haemoglobin A1c of  $\geq$  48 mmol/mol, in early pregnancy. Women were randomly assigned to either a hybrid closed-loop system or standard insulin delivery (insulin pump or multiple daily injections) with continuous glucose monitoring.

This study found that hybrid closed-loop therapy improved maternal glucose levels during type 1 diabetes pregnancy, resulting in higher time spent in the target glucose range and less time above range. Mothers in the closed-loop group had less weight gain during pregnancy, without additional hypoglycaemia or insulin dose. The benefits of closed-loop were consistent across maternity clinics, maternal glucose levels and previous insulin pump or injection therapy. There were no unanticipated safety problems associated with using closed-loop.

However, the study was too small to provide definite information on pregnancy outcomes, and the results cannot be inferred to other closed-loop systems with higher glucose targets. Future trials should examine the effectiveness of closed-loop started before pregnancy or as soon as possible after pregnancy confirmation. Our results support National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guideline recommendations that hybrid closed-loop therapy should be offered to all pregnant women with type 1 diabetes.

### **Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation**

#### ISSN 2050-4373 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) was launched in 2014 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, Ulrichsweb<sup>™</sup> (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and NCBI Bookshelf.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full EME archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/eme.

#### Criteria for inclusion in the Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation journal

Manuscripts are published in *Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation* (EME) if (1) they have resulted from work for the EME programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

#### **EME** programme

The Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) programme funds ambitious studies evaluating interventions that have the potential to make a step-change in the promotion of health, treatment of disease and improvement of rehabilitation or long-term care. Within these studies, EME supports research to improve the understanding of the mechanisms of both diseases and treatments.

The programme supports translational research into a wide range of new or repurposed interventions. These may include diagnostic or prognostic tests and decision-making tools, therapeutics or psychological treatments, medical devices, and public health initiatives delivered in the NHS.

The EME programme supports clinical trials and studies with other robust designs, which test the efficacy of interventions, and which may use clinical or well-validated surrogate outcomes. It only supports studies in humans and where there is adequate proof of concept. The programme encourages hypothesis-driven mechanistic studies, integrated within the efficacy study, that explore the mechanisms of action of the intervention or the disease, the cause of differing responses, or improve the understanding of adverse effects. It funds similar mechanistic studies linked to studies funded by any NIHR programme.

The EME programme is funded by the Medical Research Council (MRC) and the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), with contributions from the Chief Scientist Office (CSO) in Scotland and National Institute for Social Care and Health Research (NISCHR) in Wales and the Health and Social Care Research and Development (HSC R&D), Public Health Agency in Northern Ireland.

#### This manuscript

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the EME programme as award number 16/35/01. The contractual start date was in January 2018. The final report began editorial review in April 2023 and was accepted for publication in November 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The EME editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the final manuscript document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this manuscript.

This manuscript presents independent research. The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the MRC, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Copyright © 2024 Lee *et al.* This work was produced by Lee *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).